7-18-2011

In re Estate of Conway Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38430

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant-Petitioner, Tanya Wooden (“Ms. Wooden”), appeals a decision of the magistrate court in Nez Perce County, denying the claim of Ms. Wooden that a subsequently executed will was the product of undue influence.

For over fifty years, this Court has recognized the unique difficulty of establishing the existence of undue influence upon a testator of a will where the party alleged to have exerted the undue influence occupies the dual role of fiduciary and a beneficiary. In such circumstances, Idaho law imposes a presumption that the executed will was the product of undue influence. The burden is squarely placed on the fiduciary/beneficiary to rebut the presumption of undue influence. This rule serves to protect the infirm from exploitation and to safeguard the true intent of the testator; for as this Court has explained, the ability to demonstrate undue influence under these circumstances would be rare, if not impossible.

Ms. Wooden asks this Court to reaffirm the established rule and hold that a court’s order premised upon findings of fact and conclusions of law that fail to apply the proper presumption cannot stand in this State. In this case, not only did the magistrate court fail to apply the proper presumption, but it then anchored its conclusion upon findings of fact that all parties agree to be erroneous. The prejudice to Ms. Wooden by the magistrate court’s improper approach to the burden in this case is further exacerbated by several incorrect evidentiary rulings, including the exclusion of evidence as irrelevant or inadmissible hearsay and the reliance upon lay testimony to provide an expert opinion.

Having set forth the legal, factual and evidentiary errors of the magistrate court in this brief, Ms. Wooden asks the Court to remand this case for a new trial; a trial in which the recognized and established protection afforded to Ms. Wooden and the testator—that being the presumption of undue influence—shall be recognized by the trial court.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On March 15, 2009, Kathleen Conway died at the age of 84, after a long battle with dementia.¹ On June 9, 2009, Respondent Cecil Martin (“Mr. Martin”) filed with the Court a will signed by the decedent, Ms. Conway on May 21, 2004.² On June 10, 2009, Mr. Martin was appointed personal representative in informal probate proceedings, and the May 21, 2004 Will was admitted to informal probate.³ On June 15, 2009, Ms. Wooden filed a Notification of Competing Will. On June 24, 2009 Ms. Wooden filed a Petition for Formal Probate of Will claiming that the May 21, 2004 Will was invalidly executed as a result of lack of testamentary capacity and undue influence, leaving the January 25, 2001 Will as the last valid Last Will and Testament of Ms. Conway.⁴

On November 30, 2009, a trial was held on the issue of whether Ms. Conway had testamentary capacity to execute the May 21, 2004 Will and whether that Will was a product of undue influence.⁵ On January 8, 2010, the trial court orally announced its findings of fact and conclusions of law in open court, denying Ms. Wooden’s claims.⁶

¹ R. Vol. I, p.12, L. 25-27, Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.43-47, & Pltf. Exh. 2, p. 31.

² R. Vol. I, p.12.

³ R. Vol. I, p.15-16.

⁴ R. Vol. I, p.33-40.

⁵ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09 p.1, L.1.

⁶ R. Vol. I, p.112, p.4 L.1.

Ms. Wooden appealed the magistrate court's decision to the district court on March 4, 2010.⁷ After briefing, oral argument was held on September 14, 2010.⁸ The District Court issued its opinion and order on November 29, 2010, affirming the magistrate court's determination.⁹ Ms. Wooden timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the Idaho Supreme Court.

On June 2, 2011, the Supreme Court granted a Motion to Intervene filed by Chapter 7 Trustee, Bruce Boyden. Bruce Boyden served as the Trustee in a bankruptcy proceeding filed by Ms. Wooden. Pursuant to this Court's Order, the parties filed a Motion to Augment the Record with the docket from Ms. Wooden's bankruptcy case. That augmentation included a May 12, 2011 order by U.S. Bankruptcy Judge Patricia Williams, allowing Ms. Wooden and Mr. Boyden to continue pursuit of her claim in this matter.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case centers on whether Kathleen Conway was unduly influenced when she executed the May 21, 2004 will ("the 2004 Will"). Ms. Wooden asks this Court to determine whether the magistrate court failed to impose a presumption of undue influence and then refused to apply the evidence in accordance with the presumption. When determining the issue of undue influence, a court considers "all the facts and circumstances" and weighs them collectively. *See In re Lunders' Estate*, 74 Idaho 448, 454-55, 263 P.2d 1002, 1006 (1953) (internal citation omitted). Therefore, this Statement of Facts must begin long before the Ms. Conway executed the 2004 Will.

⁷ R. Vol. I, p.120-24.

⁸ R. Vol. I, p.141-59

⁹ *Id.*

Kathleen Ruth Conway was raised in Weiser, Idaho.¹⁰ In 1946, she married Wayne Martin, whom she divorced in 1963.¹¹ While married to Wayne, Ms. Conway gave birth to three children: Tanya Viers, Kathye Ingram, and Cecil Martin.¹² Although these are Ms. Conway's only children, she also had a significant and close relationship with her niece, Ms. Wooden.¹³ The close familial nature of this relationship is relevant to understanding the unusual character of the change in Ms. Conway's testamentary disposition.

Ms. Wooden was born in 1942 to Kathleen Conway's sister.¹⁴ As a result of a bitter divorce proceeding, Ms. Wooden was sent to live with Ms. Conway as a young child.¹⁵ In fact, Ms. Wooden's first memories are of living with her aunt.¹⁶ Ms. Wooden also lived with Ms. Conway during her seventh grade year, her senior year and several summers.¹⁷ Throughout her childhood, Ms. Wooden's "family situation wasn't good, and Kay [Ms. Conway] was always there to bail me out and take care of me."¹⁸ Ms. Conway's care of Ms. Wooden was the foundation for a relationship that would last throughout Ms. Conway's life. When living with the Conways, Ms. Wooden would help around the house and farm.¹⁹ Later, Ms. Conway and Ms. Wooden became adult friends and confidants.²⁰ Ms. Wooden helped Ms. Conway move

¹⁰ Pltf. Exh. 2, p. 31.

¹¹ *Id.*

¹² Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.145, L.20-21 & p.16-17.

¹³ *See id.* at p.14-18.

¹⁴ *Id.* at p.14, L.20-24.

¹⁵ *Id.* at p.15, L.7-12.

¹⁶ *Id.*

¹⁷ *Id.* at p.15, L.21-22.

¹⁸ *Id.* at p.15, L.24-25.

¹⁹ *Id.* at p.16, L.3-8.

²⁰ *Id.* at p.17, L.13-19.

after her divorce, cared for Ms. Conway after she had surgery, and would frequently visit Ms. Conway.²¹

Ms. Conway's actions demonstrate that she too felt a close relationship with Ms. Wooden. In addition to caring for Ms. Wooden throughout her childhood, Ms. Conway named her firstborn child, Tanya Viers, after Ms. Wooden.²² From then on, Ms. Wooden would be known as "big Tanya" and Ms. Viers as "little Tanya".²³ Ms. Conway confided in Ms. Wooden, relied on her after surgery, and traveled to care for Ms. Wooden after her heart attack in 1988 and later after her open heart surgery in 1990.²⁴ Her actions revealed that she considered Ms. Wooden as a child, even making an equal allotment for Ms. Wooden with the rest of the children in the last will and testament she executed on January 25, 2001 (the "2001 Will").²⁵ The 2001 Will provided the following distributions: 80% of Ms. Conway's estate was to "be divided evenly, per stirpes, among my children, to wit: KATHYE INGRAM, CECIL MARTIN, and TANYA VIERS; and my niece, TANYA WOODEN so that each individual named receives 20% of my estate." The remaining 20% was to be divided equally among her grandchildren living at the time of her death.²⁶

On January 4, 2001, just prior to signing the 2001 Will, Ms. Conway visited a doctor, concerned that she was experiencing a significant decrease in memory functioning, and trouble with her thinking.²⁷ Dr. Craig W. Beaver, a licensed psychologist of Boise, Idaho, found that

²¹ *Id.* at p.17-18.

²² *Id.* at p.16, L.22-23.

²³ *Id.* at p.16-17.

²⁴ *Id.* at p.17-18.

²⁵ R. Vol. I, p.36-40.

²⁶ *Id.* at p.37, L.18-21.

²⁷ Pltf. Exh. 13, p.100042-45.

while Ms. Conway was currently functioning “in the upper range of low average for intellectual skills and abilities, with substantial deficits in executive problem solving and memory,” “there [was] significant dementia.”²⁸ Ms. Conway had a ventriculoperitoneal shunt system implanted on January 30, 2001 to relieve the buildup of fluid of the brain, in an attempt to counter some of the identified mental problems.²⁹

Although the shunt provided some initial positive results, by January 2003 Ms. Conway’s condition worsened despite adjustments made to her shunt.³⁰ In August 2003, she was assessed to be suffering from Alzheimer’s Disease with dementia.³¹ Ms. Conway’s struggle with Alzheimer’s Disease with dementia appears to have gone untreated from August 19, 2003 through the time at which she executed the 2004 will, approximately nine months’ time.³² Eventually, Ms. Conway’s mental condition deteriorated to the point that on February 25, 2004, Respondent Mr. Martin, her son, filed a petition to be appointed as her guardian and conservator.³³

On February 5, 2004, Altha M. Bish, a personal friend of Kathleen Conway, had also filed a Petition for Appointment of Guardian and Conservator in the District Court of the Third Judicial District of the State of Idaho, in and for the County of Canyon, Case No. CV 04-1241, on behalf of Ms. Conway.³⁴ Attached to Petitioner’s Exhibit 3 is the Affidavit of

²⁸ *Id.*

²⁹ *Id.* at p.100041.

³⁰ *Id.* at p.100022, 38.

³¹ *Id.* at p.100013.

³² Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.43, L.10-14.

³³ Pltf. Exh. 5.

³⁴ Pltf. Exh. 3. Although at the trial the court sustained a hearsay objection to Ms. Wooden’s Exhibit Nos. 1, 3, 6 and 7; the court later admitted those exhibits for the limited purpose of the support they provided for the opinion of the Petitioner’s expert psychologist, Dr. Kevin Kracke. R. Vol. I, p.112, p.6, L.9-13.

Toni Thompson, an Adult Protection Worker for the Area III Agency on Aging, Adult Protection Services.³⁵ Ms. Thompson states, among other things, the following:

9. That Kathleen Conway has shown evidence of self-neglect in that she is unable to remember appointments with physicians. She is unable to cook for herself consistently and goes to the home of her friend, Altha Bish, for most meals.

...

10. That Kathleen Conway is unable to manage her finances and has required others to assist with paying her bills and managing her financial accounts.

11. That Kathleen R. Conway shows inability to seek governmental or community services and she is unable to recall the information given to her or to follow through with appointments or requests for paperwork.

...

13. That Kathleen R. Conway has specifically requested that her children not be appointed as her guardian. She has stated her relationship with them is considerably difficult and strained.

On February 25, 2004, two children of Ms. Conway, Kathye Ingram and Mr. Martin, filed a cross-petition for appointment of guardian and conservator, indicating that Ms. Conway was mentally incapacitated, unable to manage her personal and financial affairs, or make reasoned decisions as to health care.³⁶ Furthermore, Mr. Martin, through his attorney, filed the Affidavit of Megan Lowe on February 27, 2004 in Ms. Conway's guardianship and conservatorship proceeding.³⁷ Attached to that affidavit is a copy of the 2001 Will.³⁸ Mr. Martin

³⁵ *Id.*

³⁶ Pltf. Exh. 5 & Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.160, L.1-10.

³⁷ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.165, L.10-25 & Pltf. Exh. 1.

knew of the existence of the 2001 Will at the time of Ms. Conway's guardianship and conservatorship proceeding and actually used it to support his position to become guardian of Ms. Conway.³⁹ Mr. Martin was further aware that a physician's report had been filed in the guardianship and conservatorship proceeding, finding that Ms. Conway was incapacitated for the reason of dementia.⁴⁰

Mr. Martin was also aware during the guardianship and conservatorship proceedings that a court appointed visitor, Mike Neher, a retired Idaho social worker, had filed a Visitor's Report that Ms. Conway "feels quite alienated from her three children . . .", that "[s]he seems to feel exploited and neglected by her three children," and "she does not trust her children to help in the management of her affairs; that she has indicated that, if it appears that they were appointed as guardians in her behalf, that they would not consult with her about things in which she might be otherwise wish to be involved in decision making."⁴¹

Based upon a stipulation of the parties in the conservatorship and guardianship proceeding, an Order of Limited Guardianship and Order Appointing Conservator was entered on March 31, 2004, appointing Mr. Martin as limited guardian of Ms. Conway and Tresco Trust and Estate Services Company as conservator for Ms. Conway.⁴²

Soon after being appointed her guardian and conservator—sometime in early April 2004—Mr. Martin took Ms. Conway to visit attorney Michael Wasko.⁴³ The meeting with Mr. Wasko was set up by Cecil Martin, and although Mr. Martin and Mr. Wasko knew each

³⁸ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.165, L.10-25 & Pltf. Exh. 1.

³⁹ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.165, L.25 & p.166, L.1-2.

⁴⁰ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.161, L.1-6 & Pltf. Exh. 6.

⁴¹ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.161-64 & Pltf. Exh. 7.

⁴² Pltf. Exh. 2.

⁴³ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.152 L.7-15.

other since around the 1970s, Ms Conway had never met with Mr. Wasko before this meeting.⁴⁴ Mr. Martin attended the first 15 to 20 minutes of the meeting between Ms. Conway and Mr. Wasko.⁴⁵

At the time Ms. Conway signed the 2004 Will, Mr. Wasko was unaware that she had been diagnosed with dementia, and he had not received either the Physician's Report or the Visitor's Report from Mr. Martin.⁴⁶ Nor did Mr. Martin disclose the facts of these proceedings to Mr. Wasko.⁴⁷ Mr. Wasko stated that, had he known about the content of the Visitor's Report, he would have preferred to have someone other than Ms. Conway's children present at the time he questioned her about her competency.⁴⁸ Finally, Mr. Wasko admitted to the possibility that his memory with regards to events that happened with Ms. Conway were not accurate due to a medical condition,⁴⁹ and that he could not render an opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty as to the capacity of Ms. Conway at the time she executed the 2004 Will.⁵⁰

Rather than take Ms. Conway to her court appointed guardian ad litem and attorney, Julie DeFord, for changes to her estate plan, Mr. Martin instead took her to Mr. Wasko.⁵¹ Neither did Mr. Martin take Ms. Conway to the attorney who drafted her prior Will. In fact, he did not inquire of Ms. Conway who her preferred estate planning attorney was at all.⁵² When Mr. Wasko met with Ms. Conway on the day the Will was signed, he did not ask her questions

⁴⁴ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p74.

⁴⁵ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.155, L.14-24.

⁴⁶ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.87, L.16-25 & p.88, L.1-55 & p.91, L.8-25.

⁴⁷ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.116, L.21-25 & p.117, L.1-10.

⁴⁸ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.92-94 & p.93, L.9-13.

⁴⁹ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.118, L.15-20.

⁵⁰ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.94, L.8-25.

⁵¹ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.169, L.2-10.

⁵² Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.170, L.3-6.

Mr. Wasko met with Ms. Conway on the day the Will was signed, he did not ask her questions regarding the extent of her property.⁵³

The result of the 2004 Will is that Ms. Wooden's share of the estate was diminished from 20% to approximately 1.4% of the estate. Under the 2004 Will, Mr. Martin's share of the estate as a beneficiary is increased from 20% to 30%.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Magistrate Court erred in its application of the legal presumption of undue influence to fiduciaries.

2. Whether the Magistrate Court erred in holding that statements made by the decedent, Ms. Conway, to the Petitioner constituted inadmissible hearsay or were otherwise irrelevant.

3. Whether the Magistrate Court erred in refusing to admit documents as inadmissible hearsay that were filed in Ms. Conway's guardianship and conservatorship proceeding.

4. Whether the Magistrate Court erred in relying upon the opinion of the preparer of the May 21, 2004 Will, Michael P. Wasko, as to Ms. Conway's testamentary capacity.

5. Whether the Magistrate Court erred in relying upon facts, which have no substantial and competent support in the record and are clearly erroneous.

⁵³ Exh. Tr. 11/30/09, p.121, L.3-6.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

“When reviewing a decision rendered by the district court in its appellate capacity under I.R.C.P. 83(a), this Court considers the record before the magistrate court independently of the district court, while giving due regard to the district court’s analysis.” *Leavitt v. Leavitt*, 142 Idaho 664, 668, 132 P.3d 421, 425 (2006). The Supreme Court exercises free review in determining the proper interpretation, construction and application of the law. *Lattin v. Adams County*, 149 Idaho 497, 500, 236 P.3d 1257, 1260 (2010). The Court reviews a trial court’s decision to exclude evidence as hearsay under an abuse of discretion standard. *Jeremiah v. Yanke Machine Shop, Inc.*, 131 Idaho 242, 246, 953 P.2d 992, 996 (1998). Review of the trial court’s findings of fact is limited to determining whether the findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Only if the trial court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law are free from error may the reviewing court affirm the magistrate judge’s decision. *See Montgomery v. Montgomery*, 147 Idaho 1, 5, 205 P.3d 650, 654 (2009).

B. THE MAGISTRATE COURT ERRED IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE LEGAL PRESUMPTION OF UNDUE INFLUENCE TO FIDUCIARIES.

Ms. Wooden challenges the magistrate court’s refusal to apply the judicial presumption of undue influence in this case as legal error. “[W]here parties occupy the dual role of fiduciary and beneficiary, . . . Idaho law creates a rebuttable presumption of undue influence.” *In re Estate of Roll*, 115 Idaho 797, 799, 770 P.2d 806, 808 (1989). Neither party disputes that the evidence produced at trial established two facts: (1) Mr. Martin occupies the role of a beneficiary of Kathleen Conway’s estate; and (2) at the time of the execution of the 2004 Will, Mr. Martin

occupied the role of a guardian of Ms. Conway. As a guardian, Mr. Martin was a fiduciary of Kathleen Conway. Therefore, the magistrate court erred by failing to require Mr. Martin rebut the legal presumption of undue influence.

Undue influence will be held to exist when there has been sufficient evidence presented indicating the testator's free agency was overcome by another. *In re Estate of Roll*, 115 Idaho at 799, 770 P.2d at 808; *see also King v. MacDonald*, 90 Idaho 272, 279, 410 P.2d 969, 972 (1965). A court will rarely find "direct evidence" of undue influence, instead it "must determine the issue of undue influence by inferences drawn from all the facts and circumstances." *In re Lunders' Estate*, 74 Idaho at 454-55, 263 P.2d at 1006 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). In cases where a fiduciary does *not* hold a position of unusual influence or control over the testator, the party seeking to challenge a will based on undue influence must prove: (1) the testator is subject to influence; (2) there was an opportunity to exert undue influence; (3) the person who purportedly influenced the testator had a disposition to exert undue influence; and (4) the result indicates undue influence. *Gmeiner v. Yacte*, 100 Idaho 1, 6-7, 592 P.2d 57, 62-63 (1979). However, where the suspect fiduciary *does hold* a position of unusual influence or control over the testator, the court's analysis begins elsewhere.

Idaho courts presume undue influence exists when either: (1) a party occupies the roles of both fiduciary and beneficiary, *or* (2) the fiduciary was actively involved in preparation of the will or served as a witness. *Estate of Roll*, 115 Idaho at 799, 770 P.2d at 808. The advent of the legal presumption of undue influence—like so many other developments in the law—arose from the courts' recognition of the realities and limitations of probate disputes. As this Court has explained, even under scenarios where the testator had no need for the assistance of others in his

or her testamentary affairs, “[d]irect evidence as to undue influence is rarely obtainable.” *In re Lunders’ Estate*, 74 Idaho 448, 454-55, 263 P.2d 1002, 1006 (1953) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). If this is a true statement for such scenarios, then *a fortiori* it is true for situations in which a beneficiary also holds a position of unusual influence or control over the testator. Therefore, where the trial court finds that a beneficiary of the estate was also a fiduciary of the testator, the court must begin by holding the beneficiary-fiduciary to his burden of rebutting the presumption of undue influence.

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