8-18-2011

In re Estate of Conway Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38430

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

To rebut the presumption, the proponent must come forward with that quantum of evidence that tends to show that no undue influence existed. Once that burden has been met, the matter becomes one for the trier of fact. The existence of undue

influence will be determined accordingly, and on appeal such determination will only be disturbed if not supported by substantial, competent evidence.

115 Idaho at 799, 770 P.2d at 808.

Mr. Martin invites the Court to review the *Matter of the Estate of Roll* for the factual distinctions. In *The Estate of Roll*, the Will was a handwritten document witnessed by the primary beneficiary of the Will. No attorney was involved. The decedent was blind and almost deaf. Nonetheless, the jury found that the Will was valid. The verdict was affirmed by the Supreme Court. In the current case, Mr. Martin took his mother to an attorney he had limited contact with. He was not present during any of the conversations regarding changes in the Will whereby a portion to the Personal Representative and his two sisters was increased and the share of Ms. Wooden and the grandchildren of the decedent was decreased. There were no other specific instances of alleged undue influence presented by Ms. Wooden. The final changes to the Will, except for Ms. Wooden, were not significant.

Substantial and competent evidence was presented to the Court showing that there was no undue influence. It is hard to prove a negative. Mr. Martin's proof was in the limited role in played and his testimony that he did not know what his mother wanted. He was neither aware of the contents of the 2004 Will nor its execution until months after its execution. The Court also considered the elements of undue influence as set out in *Gmeiner v. Yacte*, 100 Idaho 1, 592 P.2d 57 (1979): (1) a person who is subject to influence; (2) an opportunity to exert undue influence; (3) a disposition to exert undue influence; and (4) a result indicating undue influence. In determining there was no undue influence, the Court took into consideration that at the time the

will was drafted, Ms. Conway was in good health, was living alone, was able to conduct her day to day business, she had only minimal contact with Mr. Martin, and she received independent advice from a disinterested attorney. (R. Vol. 1, p. 17-18) As stated above, Mr. Martin did not know that the will had even been changed, and the resulting change to the will was not unnatural or unexpected. On the other side of the proof, only the timing of the Will and the fact that Mr. Martin took his mother to a attorney she had not previously known were presented. Ms. Wooden's position must be that the result speaks for itself. That is not the law. The fact that Ms. Conway was a ward, does not mean that she lacked testamentary capacity. As set forth in Idaho Code 15-5-408:

An order made pursuant to this section determining that a basis for appointment of a conservator or other protective order exists has no effect on the capacity of the protected person.

Because the Magistrate recognized the presumption, considered the substantial and competent evidence, and determined there was no undue influence, the decision should not be disturbed.

ISSUE 2: STATEMENTS BY DECEDENT ARE INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY
AND APPELLANT IS NOT COMPETENT TO TESTIFY
REGARDING THOSE STATEMENTS

Ms. Wooden states that the Magistrate Court erred in not allowing statements made by Ms. Conway to Ms. Wooden into evidence because the statements were hearsay or not otherwise relevant. Ms. Wooden's position is that the statements were not hearsay because they were not offered to prove the "truth of the matter asserted." I.R.E. 801(c). The statements concerned alleged discussions about Ms. Conway's feelings about her children. The purpose of seeking to

have the statements admitted was to prove that Ms. Conway had negative feelings toward her children at that time, and to bolster the appellant's claim against the estate. The statements were clearly hearsay, and the Magistrate did not err in keeping the statements out of evidence.

Ms. Wooden relies on *King v. MacDonald*, 90 Idaho 272, 279, 410 P.2d 969, 972 (1965) in support of the argument that these statements should have been admitted.

'The existence of undue influence or deception involves incidentally a consideration of the testator's *incapacity to resist pressure* and his *susceptibility to deceit*, whether in general or by a particular person. This requires a consideration of many circumstances, including his state of affections or dislike for particular persons, benefited or not benefited by the will; of his inclinations to obey or to resist these persons; and, in general, of his mental and emotional condition with reference to its being affected by any of the persons concerned. All utterances and conduct, therefore, affording any indication of this sort of mental condition, are admissible, in order that from these condition at various times (not too remote) may be used as the basis for inferring his condition at the time in issue.'

Id. At 279, 410 P.2d at 972, *quoting* 6 Wigmore, Evidence §1739 (3d ed. 1940). In *King*, the Court allowed into evidence statements made by the decedent before and after the execution of her will and codicil.

Ordinarily these statements would be inadmissible if not part of the *res gestae*. 4 Jones, Commentaries on Evidence §1615 (2d ed. 1926). However, declarations of a testator pertaining to his mental condition may be admissible to prove his inability to resist the influence of others. Declarations not confined to the time of the execution of the will, including these made both before and after, may be received provided they are not too remote to throw light upon the mental condition of the testator at the time of execution of the will.

Id. at 278-79, 410 P.2d at 972. In *King*, the statements allowed into evidence dealt with the decedent's "capacity to resist pressure and her susceptibility to deceit." *Id.* at 279, 410 P.2d at 972.

In the case at hand, while Ms. Wooden was testifying she was asked whether Ms. Conway would speak about her children. After answering affirmatively, Ms. Wooden was then asked specifically what Ms. Conway would say about her children. At that point, an objection on the basis of hearsay was made. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 20, L. 13) The trial court sustained the objection on the basis of hearsay as well as relevance. (*Id.* at p. 20, l. 17-22; p. 22, l. 8).

The circumstances of the case at hand are distinguishable from those in *King*. In *King*, the Court allowed statements that testator Maggie Cameron made to others regarding her friend, Julia Bezold. Bezold was accused of asserting undue influence over Ms. Cameron:

Such statements by Maggie are illustrated by: Christine Cameron's testimony that in 1949 Maggie told her that Julia was going to have Maggie's estate and that in 1958 Maggie told her that the 1957 will was silly; Anna Papineau's testimony that Maggie told her that Julia made the will the way she wanted it and that it wasn't the way Maggie wanted it; and Anna Cameron King's testimony that in 1950 Maggie told her that Julia wanted the money bad enough to kill her for it.

King, 90 Idaho at 279, 410 P.2d at 972. The *King* statements referred to the testator's estate and the will itself.

In the case at hand, Mr. Martin objected on the basis of hearsay when Ms. Conway's niece was asked about statements Ms. Conway would make about her children in general. Further, the questions counsel posed to Ms. Wooden addressed Ms. Conway's behavior in the time leading up to a competency hearing that was held three months prior to the date that Ms.

Conway executed the 2004 Will. The question was not posed for purposes of determining whether Ms. Conway was unable to resist the influence of her children, but instead, it was elicited for purposes of setting forth behavioral changes of Ms. Conway that Ms. Wooden witnessed. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 21, l. 21-23) The Court permitted Ms. Wooden to testify to Ms. Conway's behavioral changes without allowing the hearsay statements.

The *King* Court determined that declarations of a testator pertaining to her mental condition may be admissible to prove his inability to resist the influence of others. However, the *King* decision does not take away the trial court's discretion regarding the admission of hearsay statements. In the case at hand, the question posed to Ms. Wooden was a fairly broad question about Ms. Conway's feelings toward her children. The question did not address whether Ms. Conway was unable to resist any undue influence brought upon her by Mr. Martin. Further, the trial court allowed Ms. Wooden to testify regarding Ms. Conway's behavioral changes, albeit without reiterating statements Ms. Conway made about her children. Thus, the magistrate court did not err in excluding testimony of statements made by the decedent, Ms. Conway, to her niece, Ms. Wooden, regarding her feelings toward her children.

ISSUE 3: DOCUMENTS FILED IN GUARDIANSHIP PROCEEDINGS ARE INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY AND NOT RELEVANT

Ms. Wooden argues that certain documents which had been filed with the court which presided over Ms. Conway's guardianship and conservatorship proceeding should have been judicially noticed by the Magistrate Court in the present proceeding. The Court did take notice of the fact that a Limited Guardianship and Conservatorship had been imposed. The documents

the Court did not allow into evidence were not “adjudicative facts”— the information in the documents was not “capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be questioned.” I.R.E. 201(b). The evidence Ms. Wooden sought to introduce were the physician’s report, the visitor’s report and the affidavit of Megan Lowe.

Judicial notice of adjudicative facts is addressed in *Trautman v. Hill*, 116 Idaho 337, 775 P.2d 651 (Ct. App. 1989).

This Court may take judicial notice of adjudicative facts, those not subject to reasonable dispute in that they are either generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or are capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. I.R.E. 201. This notice may be taken at any stage in the proceedings, at the trial or appellate level.

The proffered evidence was hearsay and contained opinions which the guardianship Court considered in determining if a guardianship or conservatorship was warranted, but the documents are not facts in and of themselves. They certainly are not facts beyond reasonable controversy.

Further, the documents are not relevant for the purposes the appellant seeks to have them admitted — to establish that Ms. Conway's lacked testamentary capacity. Idaho Rule of Evidence 401 defines “relevant evidence” as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Idaho Code § 15-5-101(a)(1) makes it clear that incapacity, as it relates to guardianships and conservatorships is a legal, not medical, disability. Indeed, a showing of incapacity is not required for the appointment of a conservatorship. I.C. § 15-5-401.

The guardianship statutes recognize that every individual has unique needs and differing abilities and that the public welfare should be promoted by establishing guardianships that permit incapacitated persons to participate as fully as possible in all decisions affecting them. *See* I.C. § 15-5-303(a). A court appointing a guardian for an incapacitated person must encourage the development of maximum self-reliance and independence by making appointive orders only to the extent necessitated by the incapacitated person's actual mental and adaptive limitations. *See* I.C. § 15-5-304(a).

The Court imposed a limited guardianship, and specifically stated that Ms. Conway was to be consulted regarding decisions which would affect her. The documents pertaining to the guardianship do not have a tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. The evidence was properly excluded.

ISSUE 4: THE COURT CORRECTLY CONSIDERED TESTIMONY OF ATTORNEY REGARDING DETERMINATION OF TESTAMENTARY CAPACITY

Appellant contends that the Magistrate should not have relied on the testimony of Ms Conway's attorney, Mr. Wasko, as to Ms. Conway's testamentary capacity. Mr. Wasko was not testifying as an expert witness, and in fact, as early as 1908, the Courts in Idaho have stated that it is permissible for a lay or non-expert witness to testify as to the sanity or competency of a person to make a will. *See Weber v. Della Mountain Min. Co.*, 14 Idaho, 404, 94 Pac. 441(1908) and *Schwarz v. Taeger*, 44 Idaho 625, 258 P. 1082 (1927).

The Idaho Court in *In re Heazle's Estate*, 74 Idaho 72, 257 P.2d 556 (1953) provided a thorough discussion of what evidence supports a finding of testamentary capacity. Citing several other courts and jurisdictions, the Court in *Heazle* stated:

Testamentary capacity is a question of fact to be determined upon the evidence in the individual case. No general rule can be devised which would be a satisfactory standard for the determination of the issue in all cases. This court has held that 'if a man is able to transact business, * * * he is clearly competent to make a will, but he may be competent to make a will and still not be able to transact business.' *Schwarz v. Taeger*, 44 Idaho 625, at page 630, 258 P. 1082, at page 1084.

'Testator must have sufficient strength and clearness of mind and memory, to know, in general, without prompting, the nature and extent of the property of which he is about to dispose, and nature of the act which he is about to perform, and the names and identity of the persons who are to be the objects of his bounty, and his relation towards them.' 1 Page on Wills, Life. Ed., § 132, p. 268.

'* * * mind enough to understand the ordinary affairs of life, the nature and extent of his property, who comprised the objects of his bounty and how he was disposing of his property by the instrument he was executing.' *Gardine v. Cottey*, 360 Mo. 681, 230 S.W.2d 731, 746, 18 A.L.R.2d 1100, at page 1119.

'In general the requisite is that the testator must at the time of making his will have sufficient mentality to enable him to know what property he possesses and of which he is making a testamentary disposition, to consider and know who are the natural objects of his bounty, and to understand what the disposition is that he is making of his property by his will.' *In re Johnson's Estate*, 308 Mich. 366, 13 N.W.2d 852, at page 855.

74 Idaho at 76, 257 P.2d at 558.

In ruling on Ms. Conway's capacity to execute a will, the Court considered evidence from witnesses that had contact with Ms. Conway at, or near, the time of execution who testified Ms. Conway knew what she was doing, and she was functioning in a competent manner. The Court considered that Ms. Conway was living independently at the time she executed the will,

and that Mr. Wasko was convinced she knew the nature and extent of her property, who comprised the objects of her bounty and how she was disposing of her property. The Court found that it was clear Ms. Conway wanted to change her will based on Exhibit 500 which indicated that she wanted her three children to share equally in the larger part of her estate, and that Ms. Wooden not inherit at the same level as her children. Finally, the Court considered the nature of the will itself, and found that there was nothing unusual about having the children of Ms. Conway inherit equally, and that the niece of Ms. Conway inherit at a different level than her children.

In its inquiry into the capacity of the testatrix, the court may examine the purported will itself, and draw therefrom any inferences as to the mental capacity of the deceased, justified by its contents. Where the will appears on its face to be a rational act, rationally performed, it is presumed to be valid. (Citations omitted.)

Heazle, Id.

Ms. Wooden makes much of Mr. Wasko's failure to have an opinion as to "a reasonable degree of professional certainty" as to Kathleen Conway's testamentary capacity. Neither the trial court, nor this author, have found this standard. Mr. Wasko's opinion was based on years of experience and was unequivocal.

Because determinations of testamentary capacity are questions of fact, and the Magistrate relied on substantial and competent evidence, the finding of testamentary capacity should be affirmed.

ISSUE 5: ANY ERRONEOUS FINDINGS ARE HARMLESS

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